STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number: 2024-000140

BAYAN ALEKSEY, #5059,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RECEIVED

Oct 03 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PETITIONER,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LINDSEY S. VANN

Justice 360

900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200

Columbia, SC 29201

(803) 765-1044

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR Court abused its discretion when it found one affidavit, out of five, submitted by Applicant in lieu of live testimony inadmissible even though Applicant gave notice of intent to rely on the affidavit prior to the evidentiary hearing and the PCR Court eliminated prejudice to the State by giving it the opportunity to call the affiant as a witness for cross examination or to call a rebuttal witness at a later hearing.

II.

Whether the PCR Court erred in finding Applicant is not a person with intellectual disability by improperly relying on the opinion of a DDSN evaluator whose evaluation deviated from the clinical standards for her profession and despite evidence presented at the hearing that Applicant scored within the intellectual disability range on multiple IQ tests, had deficits in adaptive behavior, and that his deficits existed during the developmental period.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Bayan Aleksey was sentenced to death in Orangeburg County in 1998, and this Court upheld his conviction and sentence on direct appeal. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). His trial and direct appeal proceedings concluded prior to the Supreme Court's decision in *Atkins v. Virginia*, 304 U.S. 356 (2002), which categorically bars the death penalty for individuals with intellectual disability. Aleksey sought post-conviction relief ("PCR"), which was denied by the trial court, and this Court summarily denied a request for review of that decision. Order, *Aleksey v. State*, No. 2010-173586 (S.C. May 22, 2014). Aleksey's initial PCR counsel did not investigate or present a claim pursuant to *Atkins*.

In his federal habeas proceedings, Aleksey was appointed new counsel who investigated Aleksey's functioning and discovered evidence that he was likely a person with intellectual disability. Habeas counsel filed a successive PCR application alleging, as relevant here, that Aleksey's execution is barred by *Atkins* and the Eighth Amendment. The PCR court appointed counsel to represent Aleksey, and the case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on the question of Aleksey's intellectual disability.

Prior to the evidentiary hearing, counsel for Aleksey filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Affidavits. App. 966–1031. At the hearing, the State objected to the admission of one of the five affidavits: the affidavit of Marjorie Hammock who assessed Aleksey's adaptive functioning. App. 6. The PCR court declined to rule on the admissibility of the affidavit at the hearing, giving the State the opportunity to contact Hammock to call her for cross examination or to identify a rebuttal witness of their own. App. 142. The State did not take advantage of either opportunity. *See* App. 1032–41. On the day of his retirement, PCR Judge Edgar Dickson requested the State draft a proposed order denying *Atkins* relief. App. 1074. Following submission of an order drafted by the

State in less than four hours, the judge signed the proposed order, with negligible changes, which for the first time found the Hammock affidavit was inadmissible. *See App. 1055.*

Even disregarding the contents of the Hammock affidavit, Aleksey presented evidence at the PCR hearing that he satisfies all three diagnostic criteria for intellectual disability. *See S.C. Code § 16-3-20(c)(b)(10)* (requiring proof of (1) significantly subaverage intellectual functioning; (2) deficits in adaptive functioning; and (3) onset of these deficits during the developmental period). Aleksey also used this evidence to confront Dr. Alicia Hall, the evaluator for the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (“DDSN”) who opined that Aleksey was not a person with intellectual disability.

Dr. David Price testified he administered an IQ test to Aleksey in 2019. *App. 100, 145.* Aleksey’s full-scale IQ on that test was a 74, which falls in the intellectual disability range. *App. 100, 102.* Additionally, Aleksey’s IQ was tested three other times as an adult, and he scored between 70 and 74 on those tests, which are also in the intellectual disability range and are consistent with Dr. Price’s IQ testing. *See App. 58–59, 101, 145, 939, 942.* Aleksey’s school records demonstrated that his functioning during his school years was consistent with his adult IQ scores in the intellectual disability range and that Aleksey’s academic performance was consistently poor and well below grade level. *App. 463–877.* Aleksey also presented affidavits from witnesses who knew Aleksey during the developmental period, which recounted his adaptive functioning deficits. *See App. 209, 213–20.*

Despite this evidence, the PCR Court did not individually rule on the three criteria required for a determination of whether a person is intellectually disabled, making only a conclusory finding that “there was simply not enough evidence presented to indicate that applicant satisfied all three diagnostic criteria.” *App. 1055.* Aleksey filed a motion to alter or amend, which was denied

without the PCR court making additional factual findings and legal conclusions. App. 1071, 1109–10. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN RULING THE AFFIDAVIT OF MARJORIE HAMMOCK WAS INADMISSIBLE.

Prior to the PCR hearing, Aleksey filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Affidavits in lieu of live testimony, including affidavits from Dr. David Price (a forensic psychologist who administered an IQ test to Aleksey), Marjorie Hammock (a social worker who evaluated Aleksey’s adaptive functioning by interviewing witnesses and reviewing records), Vera Aleksey (Aleksey’s mother), Lester David Rosengard (Aleksey’s childhood counselor), and Allison Franz (a law student who conducted a reading level analysis of Aleksey’s writing). App. 966–1031. In accordance with the typical practice in capital PCR cases across the State, Aleksey provided copies of each affidavit to the State, App. 969–1031, and recounted the legal framework allowing the PCR court to receive proof by affidavit:

This procedure is authorized pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-27-80, which provides that, in a hearing on an application for post-conviction relief, “[a]ll rules and statutes applicable in civil proceedings are available to the parties. The court may receive proof by affidavits, depositions, oral testimony or other evidence and may order the applicant brought before it for hearing.” The South Carolina Supreme Court has endorsed this process. *See Simpson v. Moore*, 367 S.C. 587, 607–08, 627 S.E.2d 701, 712 (2006) (rejecting the State’s argument that it was error for the PCR court to consider over forty depositions and twenty-two affidavits in lieu of live testimony), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018); *Beckett v. State*, 278 S.C. 223, 224, 294 S.E.2d 46, 47 (1982). Accordingly, courts across the state have received affidavits in lieu of testimony in numerous capital post-conviction cases. *See, e.g., Stephen C. Stanko v. State*, 08-CP-22-01446 (Georgetown County); *Louis Michael Winkler, Jr. v. State*, 11-CP-26-03907 (Horry County); *Kevin Mercer v. State*, 09-CP-32-5465 (Lexington County); *Kenneth Simmons v. State*, 05-CP-18-1368 (Dorchester County); *Herman Lee Hughes v. Michael Moore*, 98-CP-09-101 (Calhoun County); *Joseph M. L. Gardner v. Michael Moore*, 98-CP-18-453 (Dorchester County); *Keith L. Simpson v. Michael Moore*, 97-CP-42-1911 (Spartanburg County).

App. 966–67. Aleksey further noted that by relying on these affidavits and providing them to the State in advance of the hearing, “the State will have a better opportunity to consider their statements and make informed decisions about whether to cross-examine those witnesses than if the witnesses were called for direct examination at the evidentiary hearing.” App. 967. Aleksey also specifically acknowledged that: “Of course, applicant acknowledges that the Attorney General has the prerogative to call any or all witnesses who have provided affidavits or other documentary evidence for purposes of cross-examination. Whether to do so is completely within the Attorney General’s discretion.” App. 967.

At the beginning of the PCR hearing, the State only objected to admission of the Hammock affidavit, and the PCR judge took the issue under advisement. App. 6–15. During the hearing, he heard testimony from Dr. Alicia Hall, a forensic psychologist at DDSN who conducted a court ordered evaluation of Aleksey for intellectual disability. Dr. Hall testified that she received the Hammock affidavit with information about Aleksey’s adaptive functioning but not until after she had completed her own evaluation report. App. 68. Dr. Hall acknowledged that she could have changed her opinion after issuing her report based on this new information, but she declined to do so. App. 68.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Dickson addressed the admissibility issue again and did not rule the affidavit was inadmissible. Instead, he allowed the record to remain open for the State to attempt to contact Hammock or to obtain their own expert who could respond to the information contained in the affidavit. App. 142 (allowing the State time to “find somebody, or try to find [Hammock] and call her”). The State failed to take advantage of these opportunities. Instead, the State filed an Additional Response to Applicant’s Offer to Rely on Affidavits, again asking the PCR Court to reject the affidavit. App. 1032–41. The State then drafted a proposed

order finding the affidavit inadmissible—which the PCR judge signed—instead of confronting the information it contained by calling Hammock for cross examination or presenting its own expert.

The PCR Court’s ruling that the Hammock affidavit is inadmissible was an abuse of discretion. The PCR judge properly allowed the State the opportunity to call Hammock for cross examination or to rebut the information contained in her affidavit. App. 142. The State’s failure to do so does not render the affidavit inadmissible, and there was no prejudice to the State. *See Simpson*, 367 S.C. at 607, 627 S.E.2d at 608–09 (finding no prejudice to the State where “the court gave the State the opportunity to submit additional testimony and affidavits countering the evidence presented by” the PCR applicant).

Further, the Order made erroneous factual findings related to the affidavit by misrepresenting the record from the PCR hearing. *See State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016) (“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.”). For example, the Order incorrectly concluded that Hammock was unavailable for the State to cross examine. App. 1053. At the hearing, counsel for Aleksey indicated that Hammock had not responded to a phone call and an email before the hearing, and because the law permits an applicant to present proof by way of affidavit, he decided to admit her affidavit at the hearing. App. 11. This was not a concession that Hammock was unavailable. Nothing in the record indicates that the State even tried to contact Hammock despite being given additional time to do so, much less that it subpoenaed her to appear at a hearing or noticed her for a deposition. *See* Rule 804, SCRE (defining the situations in which a declarant is considered “unavailable”).

Similarly, the Order erroneously concluded that “Applicant’s conduct at the hearing” abandoned his intent to rely on affidavits. App. 1054. Essentially, the Order found that Aleksey’s

presentation of live testimony from two witnesses who also provided affidavits in the case waived his ability to rely on affidavits from another witness. The law makes no such provision, and Aleksey clearly demonstrated his intention to rely on affidavits, including Hammock's, by submitting a formal written notice of intent to do so in advance of the hearing, arguing in favor of the affidavits' admissibility during the hearing, and making no waiver of his intent to rely on them at the hearing. These erroneous legal and factual findings were an abuse of discretion warranting remand for the PCR court to consider the evidence presented in the affidavit and to reassess the determination of Aleksey's intellectual disability in light of that evidence.

II. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING APPLICANT IS NOT A PERSON WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITY.

The PCR Court also erred in finding Aleksey is not a person with intellectual disability. In ruling on the issue, the PCR Court failed to make specific findings regarding each of the three diagnostic criteria that must be considered when ruling on an *Atkins* claim. S.C. Code § 16-3-20(C)(b)(10) (outlining three diagnostic criteria: (1) significantly subaverage intellectual functioning, (2) deficits in adaptive behavior, and (3) manifestation during the developmental period). Instead, the order denying relief included only a conclusory finding crediting the testimony of Dr. Hall, App. 1053, and one conclusory paragraph finding "there was simply not enough evidence presented to indicate that Applicant satisfied all three diagnostic criteria."¹ App.

¹ The full paragraph reads:

[A]fter careful consideration of the evidence presented at the hearing in connection with the requirements for a finding of intellectual disability, the court finds there was simply not enough evidence presented to indicate that Applicant satisfied all three diagnostic criteria required to render someone intellectually disabled as required under *Franklin*. This Court finds Applicant failed to show "significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period" as required under our case law. [*State v.*] *Blackwell*, 420 S.C. [127,] 139, 801 S.E.2d [713,] 719 [(2018)]. For that reason, the Court hereby DENIES Applicant's intellectual disability claim.

1055. Though it is unclear from the PCR Court’s order whether it found Aleksey satisfied some but not all of the diagnostic criteria, even if it found Aleksey failed to prove all three, it was in error because Aleksey presented evidence to satisfy all three diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of intellectual disability.

a. *Legal and Clinical Standards for Intellectually Disability*

Persons with intellectual disability are categorically ineligible for the death penalty. *See Atkins*, 536 U.S. 304; *Franklin v. Maynard*, 356 S.C. 276, 588 S.E.2d 604 (2003). This categorical exemption recognizes that, as a class, persons with intellectual disability are less morally culpable, and therefore, less deserving of the death penalty. This is because intellectual disability results in a person having an inability to make “calculated judgments,” to “control impulses,” and “to abstract from mistakes and learn from experience.” *Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 316–20; *Hall v. Florida*, 572 U.S. 701, 708–09 (2014). While states are left with “the task of developing appropriate ways to enforce the restriction on executing the intellectually disabled,” that discretion is “not unfettered,” and “must be informed by the medical community’s diagnostic framework.” *Moore v. Texas*, 581 U.S. 1, 12–13 (2017) (quoting *Hall*, 572 U.S. at 719). When assessing intellectual disability, the states and courts cannot disregard current medical standards in favor of older clinical standards or lay stereotypes about intellectually disabled people. *Moore*, 581 U.S. at 13, 18–20.

South Carolina’s definition of intellectual disability is consistent with the medical community’s, identifying three required diagnostic criteria: (1) significantly subaverage intellectual functioning; (2) deficits in adaptive functioning; and (3) onset of these deficits during the developmental period. *See* S.C. Code § 16-3-20(C)(b)(10); Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition Text Revision 38 (2022) [hereinafter “DSM-5-TR”]; AAIDD,

App. 1055.

Intellectual Disability: Definition, Diagnosis, Classification, and Systems of Support, Twelfth Edition 13 (2021) [hereinafter “AAIDD-12”]. Intellectual disability must be proven by a preponderance of evidence at a hearing. *Franklin*, 356 S.C. at 279, 588 S.E.2d at 606 (citations omitted).

b. *Significantly Subaverage Intellectual Functioning*

A person meets the significantly subaverage intellectual functioning prong if his intellectual functioning, as measured by a comprehensive standardized IQ test, is two standard deviations below the population mean, including a margin for measurement error. DSM-5-TR at 39. This means a full-scale IQ score of approximately 75 or below when assessed on a comprehensive standardized IQ test that is individually administered according to the proper protocols. *Id.*; *Atkins*, 536 U.S. at 309 n.5 (“It is estimated that between 1 and 3 percent of the population has an IQ between 70 and 75 or lower, which is typically considered the cutoff IQ score for the intellectual functioning prong of the mental retardation definition.”). When a petitioner presents evidence that the “individual’s IQ score, adjusted for the test’s standard error, falls within the clinically established range for intellectual functioning deficits,” reviewing courts must “continue the inquiry and consider other evidence of intellectual disability.” *Moore*, 581 U.S. at 15.

At the PCR hearing, Aleksey presented evidence that his IQ falls in the intellectual disability range. Over the course of twenty years—from 1998 through 2019—Aleksey was administered four individually administered, comprehensive IQ tests. His scores on each of these tests were within four points of each other and all within the intellectual disability range:²

² App. 58–59, 101, 145, 939, 942.

Test Date	Test Type ³	Administrator	Full Scale IQ
7/1998	WAIS-III	Dr. Jeffrey Vidic	71
4/2015	WAIS-IV	Dr. Daniel Grant	72 ⁴
12/27/2018	SB-V	Dr. Alicia Hall (DDSN)	70
11/20/2019	WAIS-IV	Dr. David Price	74

Because the PCR Court failed to make any findings regarding Aleksey’s intellectual functioning, appellate review must consider the evidence and testimony presented on his IQ scores in the first instance. Dr. Hall acknowledged these scores “appear to be in the Intellectual Disability range,” App. 948, but she improperly discounted the scores in completing her evaluation.⁵ First, she made subjective findings that Aleksey did not put forth sufficient effort or malingered on his IQ tests instead of relying on objective measures to determine his effort. She opined that Dr. Vidic’s 1998 testing “was an underestimate,” but she admitted that Dr. Vidic did not administer any testing to determine if Aleksey malingered on the IQ test. App. 59–60. On her own testing in 2018, Dr. Hall admitted that she did not administer any testing to make an objective finding of whether Aleksey malingered, though she has administered such testing in another *Atkins* case. App. 63–64. Contrary to her subjective findings on malingering, when Aleksey was administered

³ The tests listed are the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scales (“WAIS”), third and fourth editions, and the Stanford-Binet (“SB”), fifth edition. The Wechsler and Stanford-Binet tests are individually administered comprehensive measures of IQ, which are considered the gold standards for assessing intellectual functioning. *See* App. 44.

⁴ Dr. Hall reviewed the raw data from Dr. Grant’s administration of the WAIS-IV in 2015 and identified a calculation error in Dr. Grant’s scoring. Dr. Grant reported Aleksey’s IQ score was 73, but Dr. Hall rescored the testing and determined it was 72. App. 58–59.

⁵ Dr. Hall did not offer an opinion on Dr. Price’s 2019 testing because it was administered after she completed her evaluation. *See* App. 145, 949. Dr. David Price testified at the hearing regarding his administration of the IQ test to Aleksey. In his expert opinion, the test he administered provided a reasonably valid measure of Aleksey’s intellectual functioning. App. 108, 145.

an objective test to determine malingering by Dr. Grant in 2015, it demonstrated that Aleksey was not malingering. App. 60.

Dr. Hall's assertions of malingering are further undermined by the consistency in Aleksey's scores over time. It is not feasible that an individual could fake consistent IQ scores over a period of many years. Indeed, "comparing test scores across multiple administrations, over years, and even across standardized tests may provide the most robust evidence of effort and performance." Marc J. Tasse & John H. Blume, *Intellectual Disability and the Death Penalty: Current Issues and Controversies* 101 (2018). Contrary to Dr. Hall's assertions, Aleksey's consistent scores, within four points of each other on four tests across twenty years, demonstrates he was not malingering and the scores represent a valid measure of his intellectual functioning.

Dr. Hall also improperly disregarded the in-range full scale IQ score from Aleksey's 2015 testing. Dr. Hall did so not because of malingering, but because she said "there was too much variability between the indices." App. 60. She explained that a full-scale IQ score is made up of subscores on four indices, which are verbal comprehension, perceptual reasoning, working memory, and processing speed. App. 60. Because of the variation between the subscores, she relied on the General Ability Index ("GAI") instead of the full-scale IQ. App. 61. Doing so was improper because the GAI is based only on the verbal comprehension and perceptual reasoning indices, ignoring the working memory and processing speed indices, which were the lowest two subscores on Aleksey's IQ test.⁶ App. 61. Essentially, reliance on the GAI allowed Dr. Hall to cherry pick Aleksey's highest subscores rather than rely on the full scale IQ score.

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