RECEIVED

Jan 08 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CAPITAL PCR ACTION

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

BAYAN ALEKSEY, #5059 PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000140

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

¹⁹ Again, Aleksey did not call Dr. Grant, but called Dr. Price to opine about another, later test. A fact-finder certainly could find that rather intriguing if indeed Dr. Grant’s testing was actually correct and important. Aleksey did not, apparently, even share Dr. Grant’s testing with Dr. Price. (See App. 110).

²⁰ In further showing its permissive clinical use, Westlaw reflects multiple cases where the GAI has been referenced by professionals. See, e.g., *C.B. through S.B. v. Henry Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, No. 1:20-CV-01771-JPB, 2024 WL 1962016, at *5 (N.D. Ga. Mar. 29, 2024) (referencing testimony that plaintiff’s “General Ability Index (“GAI”) score was 59, which is consistent with a mild level of intellectual disability” and “may be a better measure of C.B.’s general intelligence because it removes the impact of cognitive deficits in working memory and processing speed”); *L.A.F. v. Kijakazi*, No. 23-CV-00778-STV, 2024 WL 5428962, at *12 (D. Colo. Feb. 8, 2024) (“the ALJ found Dr. Lago’s statement ‘generally persuasive’ as it related to Plaintiff’s cognitive functioning because it was supported by the IQ and General Ability Index scores”); *Turnbolm v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.*, No. 1:22-CV-1242, 2024 WL 396653, at *5 (W.D. Mich. Feb. 2, 2024) (referencing both scores); *Brandoen J. v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.*, No. 6:22-CV-0470-JR, 2023 WL 3996663, at *2 (D. Or. June 14, 2023) (referencing both scores).

Additionally, consideration of the GAI was not the sole concern with accepting the 2015 score, but the failure to consider (or at least failure to report and/or discuss in the report) information from “the embedded validity indicators in the WAIS-IV.” (App. 947). As Dr. Hall explained in her report:

The psychological literature has noted the tasks that make up the PSI Index (Coding and Symbol Search) as embedded validity indicators. A PSI score ≥ 79 , Coding scale ≥ 5 , Symbol Search scaled score ≥ 6 , and the Coding-Symbol Search scaled score difference ≥ 5 are indicators of poor effort. Mr. Aleksey’s PSI score was 71, Coding score was 7, Symbol Search score was 2, and the Coding-Symbol Search difference score was 5. Three of the four indicators suggest Mr. Aleksey gave poor effort on the IQ test. This suggest[s] the results reported by Dr. Grant are likely an underestimate of Mr. Aleksey’s true intellectual functioning.

(App. 947-948).

Further, Aleksey does not engage with Dr. Hall’s careful conclusions on the full range of evidence on this prong, which reflect consideration of his “emotional disability” not an “intellectual disability” affecting his placement in school, (*see* App. 31-36), and that the later scores (which he wishes to rely on exclusive, *see* BOP at 10-11), “appear” to place him in the range of intellectual disability but “the preponderance of the evidence suggest[s] these scores are an underestimation of his true intellectual functioning,” (App. 948).

Moving away from the abundance of evidence that supports the rejection of prong one, Aleksey also complains that Dr. Hall found he had deficits in adaptive functioning that should have been recognized. (BOP at 13-14). Once again, Aleksey fails to engage in the whole of the evaluation on this point as demonstrated in the testimony and report.

Dr. Hall testified that Aleksey had a diagnosis of ADHD which correlates with having the appearance of possessing some “adaptive deficits,” but that upon questioning, Aleksey could actively describe a lack of deficits, with other contemporaneous matters supporting the lack of

deficits in the required number of areas. (See App. 47-52 and 948). In essence, Aleksey is correct that Dr. Hall found the *appearance* of some deficits, but close investigation revealed what appeared to be deficits for the intellectual disability prong were not tied to a limitation in intellectual functioning in the developmental period; thus, not supportive of intellectual disability. (App. 948-949). Rather than evaluation of facts, Aleksey attempts to rely on the *absence of evidence* and suggests that ADHD is not inconsistent with intellectual disability, (BOP at 16), but that again misses the mark. Aleksey has the burden of showing intellectual disability exists whether or not ADHD was also present. That he did not do.

Lastly, for onset, Aleksey again retreats to an absence of evidence, particularly of supporting documentation for the standardized testing during the developmental period. (BOA at 17-19). This is key for Aleksey because, as he must concede, he “did not have an IQ score within the intellectual disability range during the developmental period” (*i.e.*, when there is less known incentive to score lower), (BOP at 17), while his post-death sentence tests show poor effort (*i.e.*, known and significant incentive to score lower). Again, the fact those important and telling development period scores were reported by educational facilities and one medical facility was not questioned nor was the fact questioned that the tests noted as given were standardized, acceptable instruments to determine IQ. (See App. 939). Aleksey is squarely back at burden of proof – that burden was his and the PCR judge did not accept his speculation or his argument to overlook evidence rather than consideration of the known facts.

Aleksey is due no relief, and this Court should afford none. The lower court ruling should be affirmed.

Additional Sustaining Ground

The PCR judge denied the State’s motion to find the intellectual disability claim untimely and improperly successive. Respondent suggests that the ordinary and standard procedural bars could be accepted as additional sustaining grounds again showing that Aleksey is not entitled to any relief.

In *Franklin*, this Court “establish[ed] procedures implementing the *Atkins* decision.” 356 S.C. at 278, 588 S.E.2d at 605. The *Franklin* case sets out that post-*Atkins* cases will have a claim of intellectual disability first determined by the trial judge, with the possibility of having the evidence of intellectual disability also submitted to the jury where the claim is rejected pre-trial. 356 S.C. at 279, 588 S.C.2d at 606; *see also State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 166, 801 S.E.2d 713, 733–34 (2017). For pre-*Atkins* cases, the claim may be raised as a free-standing claim under the PCR statute. 356 S.C. at 280, 588 S.C.2d at 606. *See also State v. Laney*, 367 S.C. 639, 646-47, 627 S.E.2d 726, 730 (2006) (re-affirming *Franklin* procedure).

Critically, this Court recognized in *Franklin* that intellectual disability claims are subject to the one-year PCR statute of limitations but not barred as a claim could be filed in one-year pursuant to the “newly recognized right” section. *See Id.* at 280 & n. 7, 588 S.E.2d at 606 & n. 7 (citing to S.C. Code Ann. § 17–27–45(B) (2003), the Court found that “[a]n applicant is not barred from raising the mental retardation issue in a second PCR application,” since the new Constitutional rule announced in *Atkins* – that the Eighth Amendment bars the execution of a mentally retarded defendant - created a “substantive standard not previously recognized or right not in existence at time of state court trial, and ... [this new rule was] intended to be applied retroactively”). Pursuant to *Franklin*, this claim should have been denied as untimely and improperly successive.

As argued in the circuit court amended return, Aleksey’s jury proceedings were in 1998, so he does fall within the pre-*Atkins* division of *Franklin*. However, his PCR action began in 2001 and did not conclude until 2010. In this case, Aleksey’s claim was both improperly successive under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-90, as it was available to be raised in his prior PCR action, and time-barred under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(B), as it must have been raised within one year of the newly recognized right. Even calculated leniently from *Franklin*, Aleksey had up to and including November 3, 2004 (more correctly, though, he had up to and including June 20, 2003, which is one-year from *Atkins*). Aleksey did not file his final amended application until January 31, 2005, which is after either of these dates.²¹ Under *Franklin* and S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(B), the claim should have been dismissed.²²

Relying in large measure on the unpublished opinion in *Woods v. State*, No. 2019-001713, 2019 WL 6898088, at *1 (S.C. Dec. 18, 2019) and over the State’s objection for the prohibition against using unpublished opinion as precedent, Aleksey advised the PCR judge that this Court has recognized an exception to the procedural bars asserted by the State. The PCR judge ultimately

²¹ As also included in the return, the prior PCR attorneys would have had opinions from testing at the Department of Mental Health that reflected Aleksey had “at times appeared to be trying to purposefully present himself as more impaired than he actually is.” (Amended Return at 21, quoting from William S. Hall evaluation). Further, in a pre-trial hearing from August 11, 1998, forensic psychiatrist Dr. Richard Frierson not only testified that he considered Aleksey to be malingering but that he was able to form an “opinion that his approximately I.Q. would fall in the high 70’s, possibly into the very low 80’s” or basically, “somewhere between 77 and 82.” (Amended Return at 22 n. 15, citing [prior] PCR App. 2348).

²² This is not out of step with other courts. *See, e.g., In re Bowles*, 935 F.3d 1210, 1215–16 (11th Cir. 2019) (reviewing request for successive habeas action where *Atkins* “he could have [been] included it in [the] original habeas” noting that the petitioner “cannot now rely on *Atkins* as a ‘new’ rule of constitutional law” noting the “the rule [was] no longer new”); *Richter v. Shinn*, No. CV2000205TUCCKJEJM, 2024 WL 863712, at *23 (D. Ariz. Feb. 29, 2024) (finding procedural bar where inmate “did not raise his ineffective assistance of sentencing counsel for an alleged failure to investigate his adaptive deficits or intellectual disability in his PCR petition”).

accepted the argument for not applying the established procedural bars. *See also Bryant v. Stirling*, 126 F.4th 991, 999 (4th Cir. 2025) (on review of treatment of *Atkins* claims raised in successive applications: “We may assume—for the sake of argument—that current South Carolina practice provides an exception to the otherwise-applicable procedural limits on subsequent post-conviction relief applications for offenders who assert they are intellectually disabled under *Atkins* and *Hall*.”). However, an established practice of allowing late, successive actions on the issue has proven to foster delay over reliability.

For example, in *State v. Terry*, an inmate did not raise an *Atkins* claim until after exhaustion of all ordinary state and federal remedies. This Court, citing the possibility of exemption from execution, granted a stay, and also allowed the litigation. (*See* Appellate Case No. 1997-006197). That action, after having relief denied, is currently on appeal. (Appellate Case No. 2025-001760). Additionally, *Stephen Corey Bryant* was allowed additional proceedings over the State’s objection adding a multi-year delay even when he eventually conceded he would not be able to offer evidence to prove the condition, arguing that he should have been able to amend the successive action on a new theory. *See* Appellate Case No. 2019-000610, (appeal from May 2016 PCR action concluding June 2021). Similarly, here, the federal habeas action has been stayed since 2015 and Aleksey has been litigating this action in the circuit court, and now in this appeal, since that same year.²³ These cases are in tension with the published *Franklin* decision which is the only one consistent with the PCR statutory provisions for timely presentation of issues.

²³ Two other cases were similarly stayed and have proceedings in state court. One has a recently issued order finding intellectual disability, and the State has filed a Rule 59 motion to point out both legal and factual error. (*Bobby Wayne Stone*). That case, like others, shows that qualified and experienced prior PCR counsel did not raise the exemption claim earlier which itself calls into question the quality of the evidence offered for support of the late claim. The other is in case development according to the status reports filed with this Court. (*Anthony Woods*). The takeaway, however, is that the unwarranted delay cannot be denied and should not be condoned.

Allowing an inmate to wait decades past his original trial or PCR hearing to raise the issue does nothing to ensure timely litigation. To the opposite, records are more likely to be destroyed, and memories more likely dimmed – the very reason to enforce procedural bars, not abandon them. Consider here that Aleksey argues this Court should disallow consideration of standardized IQ test scores *during the developmental period* because he was unable decades later to obtain raw data to confirm their reliability. Should such an argument succeed, there is very little incentive indeed to promptly bring a claim. Moreover, as this Court affirmed in *Robertson v. State*, this State disfavors more than one PCR application. 418 S.C. at 513, 795 S.E.2d at 33. How much more so should the procedural bars apply in capital cases with the guarantee of two qualified attorneys, ample funding, and full civil discovery afforded without the necessity of an order showing good cause for the first PCR action. These are the most heavily litigated criminal cases. As such, they should be subject to more limitations, not less.

However, should this Court wish to maintain the exception for claims of intellectual disability, a better path may be to require a *prima facie* showing that the inmate could carry his burden of proof, and that he was unable to do so within the prior actions. *See In re Campbell*, 82 Fed.Appx. 349 (5th Cir. 2003) (denying applicant’s motion for authorization to file successive federal habeas petition based on failure to make prima facie case of intellectual disability); *In re Holladay*, 331 F.3d 1169, 1173 (11th Cir. 2003) (holding that a petitioner claiming he is intellectually disabled “also must demonstrate that there is a reasonable likelihood that he is in fact [intellectually disabled]” emphasizing that “[w]ere it otherwise, then literally any prisoner under a death sentence could bring an Atkins claim in a second or successive petition regardless of his or her intelligence. No rational argument can possibly be made that this result is appropriate under [28 U.S.C. § 2244(b)]”); *In re Wood*, 648 F. App’x 388, 391 (5th Cir. 2016) (“to obtain

authorization for a successive habeas petition, Wood must ... make a prima facie showing that his *Atkins* claim was previously unavailable, that he is intellectual disabled, and that his claim is not barred by the statute of limitations"); *Woods v. Buss*, 234 F. App'x 409, 412 (7th Cir. 2007) (finding *Atkins* claim barred noting a failure to present "a prima facie showing" of intellectual disability). At best, it encourages piecemeal litigation and delayed adjudication. At worse, requiring only the simple allegation of a claim is an open invitation to engage in the very abuse curtailed by *Aice*: "We can envision successive PCR applications filed for the purpose of delaying a just execution in a capital case, as well as other abuses of the reviewing system...." *Aice v. State*, 305 S.C. 448, 451, 409 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1991).

Respondent submits that *Franklin* correctly synthesized the competing interests and remains good law. This Court should consider the procedural bar arguments as an additional sustaining ground. Again, Aleksey is not entitled to any relief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm the lower court and deny any relief.